Nottingham City Council

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee

Minutes of the meeting held in the Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 11 April 2024 from 9:30am to 11:32am

Membership

Present

Councillor Georgia Power (Chair) Councillor Maria Joannou (Vice Chair) Councillor Michael Edwards Councillor Kirsty Jones Councillor Eunice Regan

Absent

Councillor Saj Ahmad Councillor Farzanna Mahmood Councillor Sarita-Marie Rehman-Wall

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:

Maxine Bunn	 Service Delivery Director for Mental Health and Children, NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board
Greg Cox	- General Manager, East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Dr Susan Elcock	 Executive Medical Director and Deputy Chief Executive, Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
Diane Hull	- Chief Nurse, Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
Lisa Kelly	 Chief Operating Officer, Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust
Adrian Mann	- Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer
Kate Morris	- Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer
Jan Sensier	- Executive Director for Partnerships and Strategy,
	Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
Sabrina Taylor	 Chief Executive, Healthwatch Nottingham and Nottinghamshire
Gemma Whysall	 System Delivery Director for Urgent Care, NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board
48 Apologies for Absence	

Councillor Saj Ahmad - personal reasons Sarah Collis - Chair, Healthwatch Nottingham and Nottinghamshire

49 Declarations of Interests

In the interests of transparency in relation to item 5 (Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust - Care Quality Commission Assessment Outcomes), Councillor Georgia Power stated that she had been a patient of a service provided by the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust in the past, and that the Care

Quality Commission had contacted her about her experience of the service as a patient as part of its assessment activity.

50 Minutes

The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2024 as a correct record and they were signed by the Chair.

51 Ambulance Waiting Times

Gemma Whysall, System Delivery Director for Urgent Care at the NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (ICB); Greg Cox, General Manager at the East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EMAS); and Lisa Kelly, Chief Operating Officer at the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust (NUH), presented a report on the current waiting times for an ambulance and the systemwide approaches being taken to improve these. The following points were raised:

- a) There was a great deal of disruption to ambulance services across the winter period (contributed to by industrial action, business continuity issues and severe weather), which had knock-on impacts on the overall ambulance waiting time levels. Patient handover times at NUH hospitals increased over the last 12 months as attempts to prevent overcrowding in Accident and Emergency departments meant that ambulance crews needed to wait with patients for longer periods of time. However, over the last three months, NUH has improved the handover process by increasing the use of waiting areas and moving patients from Accident and Emergency to an appropriate ward more quickly. This has helped to reduce waiting times for ambulances outside Accident and Emergency and, following a peak in December, these waiting times are now reducing.
- b) NUH has carried out a significant level of activity across its hospitals, working alongside the ICB, to improve admissions and discharge to reduce the pressures on urgent and emergency care. Measures include the use of 'virtual wards' where patients can remain at home but still under the care of the hospital (and with a named consultant), improved frailty pathways to address care for the oldest patients most at risk of impact by long delays waiting for an ambulance, and alternative triage methods for initial assessment so that patients can be referred to the right place.
- c) In terms of ambulance response times, the national expectation for a response to an emergency call has been set at 30 minutes. Currently, EMAS' target average response time for emergency calls is 39 minutes and 49 seconds. Due to the geography of Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, the response times within the city are usually faster than average, though handover times at the Sherwood Forest Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust may be shorter than those at NUH.

The Committee raised the following points in discussion:

d) The Committee asked how NUH was learning from other NHS hospital trusts to improve the waiting times for patient handover from ambulances. It was reported that NUH has recently been visited by the national 'Get it Right First Time' team from NHS England, which has helped to formulate an action plan based on best

practice from other comparable hospital trusts. There is a strong focus on areas identified as needing work to improve flow and capacity with the aim of reducing ambulance handover waiting times. Ultimately, this work forms a collaborative plan including NUH, the ICB and EMAS.

- e) The Committee considered that the phrase 'virtual ward' suggested a focus on systems rather than a focus on care and queried whether a more patientorientated term could be used. It was explained that the phrase 'virtual ward' is the national NHS terminology, but that NUH could consider a potential alternative local term (such as 'care in your own home') to make it clearer that a 'virtual ward' represents hospital care within your own home.
- f) The Committee asked how NUH would assess the actual impact of the improvements being made, and how these changes would be evaluated to manage risk effectively. It was set out that one of the most significant developments to have taken place recently was to the EMAS telephone triage system, which now has more of a focus on identifying urgent care needs and signposting callers to the most appropriate care pathways for them. This has led to a reduction of callers ultimately needing an ambulance. Improvement initiatives within NUH are assessed using multiple data streams, outcome measures across periods of time and patient feedback, with the detail then fed into its Quality Assurance Board. As a result of this work, small changes made have resulted in important improvements, such an increasing the number of porters to move patients from Accident and Emergency to ward settings more quickly, or redesigning the use of physical space to improve waiting conditions.
- g) The Committee asked what work was being done to engage with staff on the changes being made to improve ambulance handover times at hospital. It was explained that both EMAS and NUH have worked hard to engage both staff and patients when developing improvements. It has been clear that both staff and patient experience deteriorated as the waiting times for patient handover at hospital increased, so it has been vital to learn from the experiences of staff and patients in bringing about improvement.
- h) The Committee noted that the waiting times for an ambulance had increased significantly where local performance had previously been strong, and asked what the major causes of this were. It was reported that there had been an increasing demand for ambulance services, compounded by critical incidents being declared within local healthcare services, a number of cases of industrial action and a reduced flow of patients through hospitals (contributed to by delays in discharge). This increased demand and reduced flow has acted together to cause a bottleneck at crowded Accident and Emergency departments that has impacted on the handover time for ambulance crews. A programme of work is underway to overcome this bottleneck, improve the patient handover time and release ambulances back to respond to calls. Triage systems are in place to direct people calling for an ambulance to a more appropriate service where applicable. As a result, improvement has been seen between January and March 2024, but there is still more work to be done.
- i) The Committee asked what improvement targets were currently in place, and what the anticipated timetable for meeting them was. It was explained that the

ultimate target was to bring ambulance waiting times back to within 30 minutes, but that planning was taking place over the next six weeks to establish deliverable targets and timelines.

- j) The Committee asked how care provision within communities, such as through Social Prescribing, might help to reduce the need for hospital emergency care. It was set out that there is more that could be done to link the care carried out via 'virtual wards' to locally provided community care, so further work in this area will be explored.
- k) The Committee asked to what extent people in mental health crisis were referred to hospital Accident and Emergency, and how it was ensured that these patients received the right care in the right place. It was set out that there has been new funding to support mental health care needs within EMAS, with mental health specialists being recruited to the control rooms to work with other medical professionals and ambulance crews to ensure the appropriate support for patients. Within the hospital Accident and Emergency departments, partnership working is in place with the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHT) to ensure that wraparound mental health care is in place. Section 136 suites are available in hospitals, and NUH and NHT work together to ensure people in mental health crisis are supported in the right safe spaces.

The Chair thanked the representatives of the ICB, EMAS and NUH for attending the meeting to present the report and answer the Committee's questions.

Resolved:

- 1) To request that information is provided, when available, on the plans to be put in place to deliver an average wait time for an ambulance of under 30 minutes, and the projected timeline for when this is intended to be achieved.
- 2) To recommend that a local terminology is developed for services to put a greater emphasis on the care being delivered.
- 3) To recommend that all possible action is taken in partnership to ensure that patients can be handed over from ambulances to hospital Accident and Emergency Departments as quickly and safely as possible, and then transferred on to the right department within the hospital swiftly and effectively.
- 4) To recommend that all appropriate methods are developed in partnership to ensure that people who call for an ambulance gain access to the right pathway for the appropriate urgent and emergency care for their needs from the triage stage – particularly in the context of someone experiencing mental health crisis.
- 5) To recommend that consideration is given to how 'care in your own home' services can also be supported by local communities themselves, particularly in the context of Social Prescribing.

52 Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust - Care Quality Commission Assessment Outcomes

Dr Susan Elcock, Jan Sensier and Dianne Hull, Executive Medical Director and Deputy Chief Executive, Executive Director for Partnerships and Strategy, and Chief Nurse at the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHT); and Maxine Bunn, Service Delivery Director for Mental Health and Children at the NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (IBC), presented a report on the outcomes of the recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) assessments of NHT's provision of mental health services and the improvement activity proposed in response. The following points were raised:

- a) As a result of the latest CQC assessment outcomes, NHT has been placed into an oversight framework to help manage and improve the significant and complex issues in its delivery of mental health services. A number of actions have been taken across a variety of services and, while various improvements can be made quickly, many will required longer-term development to deliver. Alongside the needed service improvements identified by the CQC, there are also financial challenges that NHT must address. An Integrated Improvement Plan is being drafted to improve issues around safety, people and the organisation being wellled. The draft plan has been submitted for comment and the NHT Board aims to sign off a final version by the end of April 2024.
- b) Since the CQC's reports have been issued, there has been a focus on ensuring safer staffing on adult wards, and most staff posts have now been recruited to. Work has been done to strengthen nursing leadership within teams to ensure that the right expertise is in place. A range of training is underway throughout induction for new staff, with refresher training for existing staff.
- c) Extensive work has been undertaken to improve therapeutic observations, and a full audit of all observations has taken place. The risk assessment process used by the Mental Health Crisis team has been fully audited and the triage process has been strengthened to ensure service users are clear what to expect from the service, with dedicated leadership now in place to oversee this. A 'waiting well' policy has been developed and fully implemented to ensure that those waiting for services have support in the interim and know how to access help before they receive an appointment.
- d) Work is also taking place to review how NHT listens to patients and uses their provided feedback to drive improvement and ensure quality. Both a staff and carer reference group have been established to ensure that feedback is heard from a wide range of people involved in care, as well as from service users, allowing these experiences to be embedded in the improvement plan.

The Chair made a detailed statement setting out how the Committee had sought to engage with NHT in the past on the issues identified by the latest CQC assessments and the Coroner's Reports to Prevent Future Deaths, which is appended to the minutes. The Committee then raised the following points in discussion:

e) The Committee asked how mental health capacity assessments where carried out to help determine support needs. It was explained that the mental health capacity

assessments are generally done by the most appropriate clinician depending on the particular context and service being used. The assessment of mental health capacity is a specific skill and it is essential that those completing the assessments are skilled and qualified to do it, so all proper training is in place.

- f) The Committee asked how services were commissioned across the city to ensure equity of access. It was reported that there could be uneven pockets of service provision, so work is underway to remove barriers and ensure access for everyone. Where services have been historically commissioned to be area-based, systems are being put in place to prioritise requirement over location to ensure that those most in need of services can receive them easily. Measures are being set to ensure that staff are in the right roles and that people entering the system seeking support are able to follow an accessible and straightforward process that has clear start and end points.
- g) The Committee asked whether there were other mental healthcare providers currently operating within an improvement framework, and what lessons were being taken from those that had been in a similar position. It was set out that NHT has started to engage with other providers that have been through a similar process and is working towards establishing what best practice looks like. NHT is also liaising with the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust on how it is progressing its significant transformation and improvement journey to establish good ways of working and how best to engage with staff and patients. There are regional and national network groups that NUH is participating in to help improvement, and it is talking to a range of third-sector providers to enhance learning and establish a range of techniques for best practice.
- h) The Committee asked what work was being done to ensure that change was embedded across all services, particularly in the context of listening to the voice of patients and staff. It was explained that listening to service user experience would form a significant part of NHT's transformation work, including taking a more robust approach to reviewing complaints and using them to inform service improvement. Work on a new complaints process in underway to ensure that the correct information is captured, and that similar complaints are recognised as a group, rather than each one being dealt with as an isolated incident. Work is also underway to amplify the patient voice and capture more feedback on services through communication with all patients. Improvements made include creating a participation structure with previous and current service users, and the delivery of a series of co-produced training programmes to enhance staff learning. Ensuring diversity and listening to a wide selection of different voices is at the heart of the improvement programme for gathering feedback.
- i) The Committee asked what immediate next steps were planned, and how NHT would work to rebuild trust with Nottingham people. It was reported that the initial aim is for an Integrated Improvement Programme to be signed off by the end of April. This will then inform activity to establish projects, work programmes and exit criteria that will all be used to monitor the delivery of improvement. Work around co-production will begin in May, with a particular focus on regaining the trust of the public and patients, and on rebuilding relationships.

The Chair thanked the representatives of NHT and the ICB for attending the meeting to present the report and answer the Committee's questions.

Resolved:

- 1) To request that the Committee is briefed on the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust's (NHT's) completed Integrated Improvement Plan for addressing the full scope of the challenges faced by the organisation, including in the areas of patient safety, quality, people and culture, finances and leadership.
- 2) To recommend that everything possible is done to ensure that a diverse and representative range of voices of both patients and frontline staff are heard, amplified and listened to as a vital component in improving services through effective co-production, and that past complaints from patients are fully reviewed as part of this process.
- 3) To recommend that an effective communications strategy is developed and delivered in partnership to ensure that people are aware of what is being done by NHT as part of its improvement process, to seek to rebuild trust with both current and past patients, and with future service users – particularly in the context of reaching past patients who may be reluctant to re-engage with NHT due to their past experiences.

53 Work Programme and Quality Accounts 2023-24

The Chair presented the Committee's completed work programme and the proposed approach to its consideration of the 2023/24 Quality Accounts of local NHS healthcare providers. The following points were discussed:

a) The development of the Committee's 2024/25 work programme is underway. It is proposed that the draft Quality Accounts will be considered by working groups of Committee members during the last week of April (before the upcoming local elections on 2 May), which will then report back to the next appropriate meeting of the full Committee.

Resolved to agree the proposed approach to the engagement with the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust, the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, the East Midlands Ambulance Service and the Nottingham CityCare Partnership on the production of their Quality Accounts for 2023/24. This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 11 April 2024

52. Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHT) – Care Quality Commission (CQC) Assessment Outcomes

Statement of the Chair

Frequently mentioned reports:

- 2019 CQC Inspection: https://api.cqc.org.uk/public/v1/reports/2607004c-911a-4a63-9760-8b00c2293cbc?20210116072008
- 2022 CQC Inspection: <u>https://api.cqc.org.uk/public/v1/reports/5f8b7065-93e9-4431-8a3a-a656810eb788?20221129062700</u>
- 2023 CQC Inpatient Inspection: <u>https://api.cqc.org.uk/public/v1/reports/c467cb17-416b-44a5-92fc-9f653cb810e2?20240301010515</u>
- 2024 CQC Section 48 Inspection: <u>https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/nottinghamshire-healthcare-nhsft-special-review</u>

1. Community Mental Health Services

a) CQC Inspection 2019

"The service was easy to access. Staff assessed and treated people who required urgent care promptly and those who did not require urgent care did not wait too long to start treatment. The service did not exclude people who would have benefitted from care. The teams included or had access to the full range of specialists required to meet the needs of the patients. Managers ensured that these staff received training, supervision and appraisal. Staff worked well together as a multi-disciplinary team and with relevant services outside the organisation.

Staff treated patients with compassion and kindness and understood the individual needs of patients. They actively involved patients and families and carers in care decisions. Staff ensured all carers felt listened to and empowered patients to be actively involved in their recovery." – CQC

Note: Prevention of Future Death Notices in November 2017 (https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Ryan-Vout-2017-0376_Redacted.pdf), (March 2021 https://www.judiciary.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2021/03/Sean-Fegan-2021-0083-Redacted.pdf) July 2022 (https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/keith-nottle-prevention-offuture-deaths-report/), January 2023 (https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-deathreports/alexander-lyalushko-prevention-of-future-deaths-report/), September 2023 (https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/gerard-murray-prevention-offuture-deaths-report/), February 2024 (https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-futuredeath-reports/daniel-tucker-prevention-of-future-deaths-report/) (this was escalated to the Secretary of State) and March 2024 (https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death<u>reports/kenneth-baylis-prevention-of-future-deaths-report/</u>) all specifically reference the failure of NHT to involve families in patients care.

b) September 2019

"The future inpatient need for the Nottinghamshire is currently being scoped, due to the number of transformation schemes that are due to start over the next few months this needs to be monitored as the schemes impact is realised. There are clear assumptions that improvements to crisis pathways offering robust alternatives to admission will reduce the overall inpatient need." – NHT

https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/DMS/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2U E4zNRBcoShgo=vcOngmXtUQoB1De7cO5%2Bebi%2FOwLvnuehhPjqkpGdzG3xF E6K8Ko8jQ%3D%3D&rUzwRPf%2BZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3D%3D=pwRE6AGJFLDNIh 225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2FLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3D%3D&mCTIbCubSFf XsDGW9IXnlg%3D%3D=hFfIUdN3100%3D&kCx1AnS9%2FpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3D %3D=hFfIUdN3100%3D&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2BAJvYtyA%3D%3D=ctNJFf55vVA% 3D&FgPIIEJYIotS%2BYGoBi5oIA%3D%3D=NHdURQburHA%3D&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993j syOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60IavY mz=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55v VA%3D

c) January 2020

The Committee raised people waiting too long, particularly in a crisis, and a lack of a 'waiting well' policy.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=614&Mld=7990&Ve r=4

d) November 2020

A man completed suicide and the Crisis team was mentioned in a Prevention of Future Death Notice (see also April and June 2022).

e) December 2020

The Committee raised anecdotal evidence of people attempting suicide due to being unable to access appropriate mental health treatment. There was no adequate response to this – simply that, sometimes, GPs make inappropriate referrals. The Committee asked about the training of the staff on the Turning Point helpline and were told that NHT was confident in their ability.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s114233/Minutes%2017122020%20 Health%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf

f) March 2021

"Decision making surrounding the need for secondary mental health care ... a decision was taken in December 2019 that the patient did not require mental health

treatment at all in the absence of adequate information or assessment and for reasons which appeared incorrect.

Access to mental health treatment – the patient had complex mental health conditions and experienced very high levels of distress and anxiety as a consequence. He was declined mental health treatment on two occasions by the Trust. The patient took an overdose due to his frustration at not being able to access mental health services which he needed. Whilst this was not the cause of the patients death, it created a dangerous state of affairs.

Implementation of care plans – a care plan was devised by the liaison nurse and psychiatrist, only to be overruled by persons who had not themselves assessed the patient, on an incorrect basis, and without a review of the risk assessment justifying that decision. The Patient was called and invited to agree to the withdrawal of services. Such a practice runs the significant risk that patients who are less assertive or who have poor insight into their mental health needs will be said to have 'agreed' that a service is no longer required." – HM Coroner (see also June 2022)

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Sean-Fegan-2021-0083-Redacted.pdf

g) April 2021

The Committee raised the fact there were systemic issues around access to crisis and secondary services, and the fact that people could be left waiting for diagnosis, or diagnosis is not shared with others involved in their care (such as GPs). The Committee again raised anecdotal evidence of people attempting suicide, or selfharm escalating due to an inability to access secondary care.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=8769 &Ver=4

I shared examples of hers and others experience of people being pushed from one service to another without being able to access care from anywhere, and that the voluntary sector was having to pick people up.

https://www.nottinghampost.com/news/nottingham-news/our-mental-health-servicesfailing-5302866

I was contacted by NHT a week after that meeting, which said it felt that I had been unduly unfair on them and that they would "have to consider whether they would agree to come to future meetings" unless I withdrew the comment. I refused and reminded NHT of the Committee's ability to require them to attend meetings as a provider of NHS services.

h) June 2021

A man died following an overdose. A Prevention of Future Death Notice published in June 2022 said this was "a cry for help, or to secure secondary mental health

treatment". It also referred to the lack of information shared with his GP, including not telling the GP of a diagnosis.

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Keith-Nottle-Prevention-offuture-deaths-report-2022-0189_Published.pdf

i) October 2021

"A patient suffered significant symptoms of distress, personality changes, dysfunctional behaviour and possible paranoid or delusional thoughts. The precise nature of the patient's mental health, personality and/or neurological difficulties were not assessed prior to his death.

The patient experienced regular thoughts of ending his life and he engaged in acts consistent with such intentions on numerous occasions including 22 October, on or around 5 November, 11 November, 12 November and 14 November 2020. Against this background, the patient took his own life by means of hanging on 28 November 2020." – HM Coroner

https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/michelle-whiteheadprevention-of-future-deaths-report-2/

I raised this case multiple times with NHT as it refers to the Crisis team viewing themselves as a 'gatekeeping service', starting in January 2022.

j) January 2022

A Coroner's Inquest and Prevention of Future Death Notice found:

"The assistant coroner said the patient faced repeated rejection from the Trust, as his care was impacted by a lack of communication between different services and no senior Nottinghamshire Healthcare trust member contacting his GP.

She found they did not understand he was in a coercive and controlling relationship and that this was likely a risk factor for his suicidal thoughts and previous suicide attempts. The patient made multiple calls to the trust's crisis team before his death, but when a final plan was decided in January 2022 to refer him for stabilisation work, this was then not communicated to him or his GP.

The patient was also unaware of the Local Mental Health Team (LMHT) treatment plan for him when he died, and reportedly felt that the Trust could not help him as referrals were repeatedly rejected by teams across the Trust." – HM Coroner

https://www.nottinghampost.com/news/nottingham-news/health-services-failedrealise-young-8264154

https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/thomas-jayamahaprevention-of-future-deaths-report/

k) April 2022

In a private meeting, I raised concerns about the inequity in service based on location – for example, no psychologists in City South or City North, people not being assigned care coordinators or being reassigned when care coordinators left, longer waiting lists in City Local Mental Health Teams. I was told that I was wrong about the inequity based on location and that the psychologist issue was being resolved. I also raised concerns about a 'waiting well' policy – the Committee has raised this multiple times on a range of community services, notably in relation to Step 4. I was not provided an answer to this, and the response from a NHT member of staff who may no longer work at the NHT was quite combative (see also June 2023).

I raised the issue of a Prevention of Future Death Notice criticising the Crisis team for treating its primary role as a 'gatekeeper' (see also June 2022).

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Paul-Barton-Prevention-offuture-deaths-report-2021-0338_Published.pdf

I) June 2022

In the Committee's response to the NHT 2021-22 Quality Account, I referred to the April 2022 meeting on several occasions, one being that NHT repeatedly referred to the Crisis team as a 'gatekeeping service'. Despite a Prevention of Future Death Notice in this year criticising NHT for treating the Crisis team as primarily a gatekeeping service, and NHT in their response to the Notice saying this was not the case, NHT continued to do so, including in the Quality Account.

The Committee said "that the Service should be acting as a 'gatekeeper' to inpatient care is of great concern to the Committee and this concern was raised with the Trust. The Trust advised the Committee that this is not the case, but it is not clear from the Quality Account document what learning, if any, has taken place in relation to the issue being raised in the Prevention of Future Death Report, and elsewhere in the Quality Account document there is reference to 'crisis gatekeeping'. In addition, the Committee has met with the Trust both in public meetings, and privately when the phrase 'gatekeeping' has been used by senior Trust officials regarding the CRHTT."

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s135386/NHCT%20Quality%20 Account%202021_22%20HASC%20Scrutiny%20Committee%20Comment%20Final. pdf

The Committee also looked at services for people with co-existing substance use and mental health problems due to its concerns of two near identical Prevention of Future Death notices. In my opinion, there was a culture of blame from NHT to the NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (ICB). I raised this with the ICB and heard a different opinion. I am not commenting on who is right, but I suspect there are truths and untruths in both views. I escalated this to colleagues in Social Care and Public Health at the Council as the Committee has regrettably been unable to return to this item due to competing pressures. I hope it will be a priority for the next municipal year. https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Denning-2016-0058.pdf

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s135271/Services%20for%20pe ople%20with%20coexisting%20substance%20misuse%20and%20mental%20health%20issues.pdf

m) November 2022

A man with a known extensive mental health history was referred to an LMHT. This referral was not actioned by NHT. A month later the man completed suicide. The Coroner found failings in NHT's Serious Incident reporting.

https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/alexander-lyalushkoprevention-of-future-deaths-report/

n) June 2023

A response from NHT to a Prevention of Future Death Notice still shows varying levels of care and safeguards according to location.

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/2023-0116-Response-from-Nottinghamshire-Healthcare-NHS-Foundation-Trust.pdf

o) September 2023

In the Committee's Quality Account response, it once again raised concerns about NHT's lack of a 'waiting well' policy. This was sent to NHT before September, and in turn to the Secretary of State, but due to this being the Committee's first meeting of the municipal year as it was an election year, they were not made public until now.

The Committee also said that it did not believe NHT has a good understanding of patient experience as what the Committee was told by NHT did not usually reflect what patients said. The Committee also said it did not feel that NHT learns from past events, including patient complaints, Serious Incidents and Prevention of Future Death Notices.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s150479/Enc.%202%20for%20 Quality%20Account%20202223.pdf

p) CQC Section 48 Inspection April 2024

"A lack of clear standards in waiting times for community mental health services meant that we were unable to compare NHFT waiting times against other trusts. However, we were concerned that variation in waiting times at NHFT meant access to services was not equitable. The makeup of teams also meant that some teams worked in silo and caseloads were not shared by urgency or need, but by locality.

The trust did not have a policy in place on how to manage people who were on the waiting list for mental health services. Staff told us they were worried about the length of the waiting lists and unsure of how to manage these. It was also unclear

how teams managed people whose symptoms were getting worse. This seemed to be managed differently across the teams we visited. We raised this with the trust at the time of our review as we were concerned about the risk to people using the service.

High demand and long waiting times at NHFT meant that people were not able to access care when they need it.

People's mental health was not monitored for signs of deterioration while waiting for support.

Too many people did not have an allocated care coordinator, putting them and the public at the risk of harm.

The crisis teams did not always respond to people's immediate needs to minimise any discomfort, concern, or distress, and did not always provide care and treatment to people quickly." – CQC

2. Mental Capacity Act

a) April – March 2022 CQC Inspection (published November 2022)

"The new structure covers both the Mental Health Act and the Mental Capacity Act and provides a clearly defined escalation process. The clinician's role within the team was to embed the Mental Capacity Act across the trust. We heard examples of how they were redeveloping and improving e-learning and providing advice and support to teams across the trust." – CQC

b) June 2022

The Committee raised the poor compliance with the Mental Capacity Act in its Quality Account response.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s135386/NHCT%20Quality%20 Account%202021_22%20HASC%20Scrutiny%20Committee%20Comment%20Final. pdf

c) CQC Section 48 Inspection 2024

"Poor medicines management, including the application of the Mental Health Act consent to treatment forms and mental capacity assessments.

...we reviewed paperwork relating to consent, capacity and second opinion. We found limited evidence of discussions about consent to treatment between the responsible clinician and patients. In a small number of cases, where we found evidence of discussions taking place, the quality of recording was not acceptable, for example, "patient complaint with medication.

We did not find evidence of mental capacity assessments for patients who had a T3 form." – CQC $\,$

3. Turning Point Crisis Helpline

a) December 2020

The Committee asked about the training of the staff on the Turning Point helpline and was told that NHT was confident in their ability.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s114233/Minutes%2017122020%20 Health%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf

b) June 2021

A man died following an overdose. A Prevention of Future Death Notice published in June 2022 said this was "a cry for help, or to secure secondary mental health treatment". It also referred to the lack of information shared with his GP, including not telling the GP of a diagnosis.

"Evidence was heard regarding the operation of a triage for patients who may be experiencing a mental health crisis. A practice had developed of bypassing specialist mental health assessment by means of telephone workers making their own judgments about the level of risk a person presents to themselves and others, and a judgment about whether or not they require urgent mental health assessment and / or treatment, based on a very limited criteria. This had the result of only a very small proportion of potentially unwell patients being considered by a person with qualifications to assess and treat mental health. This was a culture and practice which stood in conflict with the procedure the Trust had in writing for the role of the telephone workers.

During the evidence at the inquest the Turning Point staff member stated that Turning Point staff may be placed on the line within their first week of starting work, after shadowing a small number of shifts. It was also stated that there are frequent times when calls are not transferred to CRHT in line with the UK Mental Health Triage Scale." – HM Coroner

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Keith-Nottle-Prevention-offuture-deaths-report-2022-0189_Published.pdf

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2022-0189-Response-from-NHS-Nottinghamshire-Healthcare.pdf

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2022-0189-Response-from-Turning-Point.pdf

c) November 2023

The Healthwatch report into Specialist Mental Health Services in Nottingham had significant critical feedback about the Turning Point Crisis Access Line.

https://hwnn.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/HWNN-SMI-Report-Specialist-Mental-Health-Services.pdf

d) CQC Section 48 Inspection 2024

Critical of the Turning Point Crisis Access line, in particular staff skills and training with patient feedback saying it can do more harm than good.

"Almost all respondents to the 2023 Community mental health survey who provided additional comments, and had used the crisis care service at NHFT, said they felt the service was inadequate for people's needs. People were particularly negative about the crisis helpline, with comments ranging from the helpline being "useless" to being actively detrimental to their care." – CQC

e) March 2024

I had an example with NHT of a case where a patient told the Turning Point Crisis Access line had taken an overdose. The patient was told 'that's a shame' and no further action was taken. The patient was taken to hospital after their GP raised concerns after they had not attended an appointment some days after the overdose (and telling the access line). The Committee also flagged concerns at its March 2024 meeting when discussing crisis care.

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=1018 4&Ver=4

4. Observations

a) CQC Inspection 2019

Male staff were found to be doing female patient observations without warning them.

"Staff did not follow the trust's policy around the use of observation and did not follow national guidance to monitor deterioration in patients' physical health." – CQC

b) 2019-2024

At least two Prevention of Future Death Notices issued due to patients' physical observations either not being done, or delayed action when needed (see also 2022 CQC Inspection).

c) CQC Inspection 2022

Generally positive comments about observations, except for a comment that "staff told us that there were system pressures and there was therefore sometimes pressure for them to take patients when they did not have enough staff. We reviewed an incident where a patient had fallen as there were not enough staff to observe them. This incident was being investigated by the trust. However, this appeared to be an isolated incident as we did not find evidence of similar incidents." – CQC

Note: Prevention of Future Death Notices found patients died as a result of a failure to act quickly enough after physical concerns noted during observations in January 2022 (<u>https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Michelle-Whitehead-Prevention-of-future-deaths-report-2022-0016_Published.pdf</u>), July 2022 (<u>https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/andrew-vizard-prevention-of-future-deaths-report/</u>) and October 2023 (<u>https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/michelle-whitehead-prevention-of-future-deaths-report/</u>) and October 2023 (<u>https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/michelle-whitehead-prevention-of-future-deaths-report-2/</u>).

The Coroner said that "Many of these issues have been the subject of scrutiny in at least two previous Inquests, that have followed deaths on inpatient wards of the Trust. I have received reassurance during these Hearings that the issues have been addressed, but this case illustrates that they clearly remain. The issues are very serious in my view." I can find no point at which the CQC noted these, despite ongoing inspections at the same time as the inquests.

d) CQC Inpatient Wards Inspection 2023

"There was an inconsistent approach on which documentation to use when recording seclusion observations.

Observation records completed by staff had been falsified.

Staff did not always raise concerns and report incidents and near misses in line with trust policy.

The service did not always learn from incidents." - CQC

5. Duty of Candour

a) CQC Inspection 2022

"The trust applied their statutory duty of candour effectively. There was a clear process in place when things went wrong. A 'culture of candour' was promoted and had been embedded in the trust investigation process. The trust offered an apology for incidents and followed guidance for statutory duty of candour when required. When there was a serious incident that required investigation duty of candour was considered at the start of the enquiry so that the trust could formally apologise and ensure families were involved in setting the terms of reference for the investigation." – CQC

b) June 2023

"I am told that the Trust is, "committed to continuing our improvement journey in this area", however, I remain concerned that the Trust's investigation was insufficient, lacked robustness and did not fully engage with the duty of candour." – HM Coroner

This patient completed suicide in 2018, but multiple reviews happened in 2022 at the time of the CQC inspection. The Coroner found in 2023 that NHT failed to apply its

Duty of Candour as a result of the poor quality of those reviews. This report was escalated to various MPs with a defence or veteran's brief.

https://www.judiciary.uk/prevention-of-future-death-reports/jonathan-cole-preventionof-future-deaths-report/

c) CQC Section 48 Inspection 2024

"The ICB is aware of the challenges facing the trust. Key concerns shared with us by the ICB, which we have also found on our review, include: Quality, including high levels of ongoing serious incident investigations, not meeting requirements of the duty of candour legislation, lack of learning from incidents and the speed of implementing the new NHS England Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF). There are also concerns about the trust's quality team who carry out visits to teams/services internally and also to any provider that NHFT commission to provide services on its behalf." – CQC

6. Discharge

a) November 2017

"The lack of a co-ordinated discharge from in-patient psychiatric care into the community, in particular the failure of appropriate professionals from hospital and community to liaise and for family to be informed as a pre-requisite for discharge." – HM Coroner

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Ryan-Vout-2017-0376_Redacted.pdf

b) CQC Inspection 2019

"Staff planned and managed discharges well. They liaised well with services that would provide aftercare and were assertive in managing the discharge care pathway." – CQC

c) CQC Section 48 Inspection 2024

"Discharge planning across community mental health and crisis services was not robust, with people describing concerns around being discharged too soon or leaving inpatient services in a worse state than when they arrived.

While we did not see high bed occupancy levels across NHFT, the trust had difficulties with people staying in hospital for long periods and delayed discharges, which affected the flow of patients through adult mental health services.

The wards for working age adults and psychiatric intensive care units had a high number of patients (26) clinically ready for discharge, but where transfers were delayed because of the complexity and risk of individual patients. As a result, the trust was not meeting the aims of the NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan 2019/20 to 2023/4, which aims to reduce length of inpatient psychiatric stays to a maximum of 32 days.

We found that the discharge planning process across the community mental health and crisis services was not robust, with little evidence of discharge planning in care plans." - CQC